ECONSTOR Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

McKnight, Abigail

Working Paper

A fresh look at an old question: Is pro-poor targeting of cash transfers more effective than universal systems at reducing inequality and poverty?

LIS Working Paper Series, No. 640

Provided in Cooperation with: Luxembourg Income Study (LIS)

Suggested Citation: McKnight, Abigail (2015) : A fresh look at an old question: Is pro-poor targeting of cash transfers more effective than universal systems at reducing inequality and poverty?, LIS Working Paper Series, No. 640, Luxembourg Income Study (LIS), Luxembourg

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/119754

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

LIS Working Paper Series

No. 640

A fresh look at an old question: is pro-poor targeting of cash transfers more effective than universal systems at reducing inequality and poverty?

Abigail McKnight

July 2015



CROSS-NATIONAL DATA CENTER in Luxembourg

Luxembourg Income Study (LIS), asbl





http://improve-research.eu

A fresh look at an old question: is pro-poor targeting of cash transfers more effective than universal systems at reducing inequality and poverty?

Abigail McKnight

Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion (CASE), London School of Economics

Discussion Paper No. 15/14 June 2015

> Poverty Reduction in Europe: Social Policy and Innovation



FUNDED BY THE 7TH FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Howard Glennerster, John Hills, Wiemer Salverda, Tim Smeeding and Kitty Stewart for helpful comments on an earlier draft of this paper, and seminar participants at the ImPRovE Project Meeting in Budapest (November 2014). The author is grateful to Phillipe van Kerm for the *sgini* Stata program. The research reported was financially supported by the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2012-2016) under the ImPRovE project (grant agreement n. 290613). Any errors remain the responsibility of the author. Originally published as ImPRovE Working paper McKnight A. (2015), *A fresh look at an old question: is pro-poor targeting of cash transfers more effective than universal systems at reducing inequality and poverty?*, ImPRovE Working Paper No. 15/14. Antwerp: Herman Deleeck Centre for Social Policy – University of Antwerp

June 2015 © Abigail McKnight

Bibliographic Information

McKnight A. (2015), A fresh look at an old question: is pro-poor targeting of cash transfers more effective than universal systems at reducing inequality and poverty?, ImPRovE Working Paper No. 15/14. Antwerp: Herman Deleeck Centre for Social Policy – University of Antwerp

Information may be quoted provided the source is stated accurately and clearly. Reproduction for own/internal use is permitted.

This paper can be downloaded from our website: <u>http://improve-research.eu</u>



Table of contents

Table of contents
Abstract4
1. Introduction5
2. Motivation and existing evidence5
3. Approach and methodology7
4. Data9
5. Trends in income poverty, inequality and the concentration of cash transfers
6. Concentration of gross universal transfers and gross social assistance
7. Assessing the effectiveness of cash transfers on poverty and inequality reduction
7.1 Poverty reduction20
7.2. Inequality reduction24
8. Summary
References

Abstract

This paper presents findings on the changing effectiveness of cash transfers and income taxes on inequality and poverty reduction in four EU countries – the UK, Italy, Sweden and France. We use long time series (spanning four decades) to examine trends within countries over time and between countries at different points in time. Recent evidence has suggested that the relationship between concentration of cash transfers and their redistributive effectiveness has become blurred over time. We find much more conclusive evidence of a negative relationship within countries over time. The results show a negative relationship between the concentration of cash transfers net of direct taxes and their effectiveness in terms of reducing poverty and inequality. The strength of the relationship varies between countries and in some cases between the all age and the working age populations. The evidence suggests that caution should be applied to relying on bivariate cross-country estimates and that more should be done to establish and verify empirical relationships within countries over time using the rich data sources that are now available. These findings re-open the debate on the most effective design of cash transfer and direct tax systems.

Keywords: Inequality, poverty, redistribution, cash transfers, welfare

JEL code: I32, H23, D31

1. Introduction

The relationship between the degree of targeting of cash transfers and their effectiveness in producing a more equitable distribution of income has been the focus of a number of research papers. Arguably the most influential in this field is the paper by Korpi and Palme (1998) which presented empirical cross-country estimates suggesting that more targeted cash transfers systems were less effective in terms of reducing inequality than more universal systems. Recent evidence has challenged this finding (Marx, Salanauskaite and Verbist, 2013; Kenworthy, 2011). These more recent studies have shown that with a wider selection of countries than that used by Korpi and Palme and more recent observations, the relationship is much less conclusive and in many cases no longer holds.

The policy interest in understanding the relationship between concentration of cash transfers (most commonly operationalised through means-testing) and redistributive effectiveness intensifies the need for clear answers. The finding that welfare systems which deliver more concentrated cash transfers are less effective at reducing poverty and inequality, as Korpi and Palme acknowledge, might appear to be counterintuitive. They refer to it as a "Paradox". The argument that limited resources should be focused on those most in need has intuitive appeal. Korpi and Palme, and others, argue that a more inclusive welfare state based around a universal system of entitlements leads to wider support among the electorate, producing a sustainable, generous system of cash transfers and this is key to understanding why they deliver lower poverty and inequality despite some 'inefficiencies'. The authors who conducted the more recent research which finds a breakdown in the relationship also stress the importance of a 'generous' system of cash transfers (Marx et al., 2013).

In this paper we take a new approach, rather than simply comparing the bivariate relationship between the concentration of cash transfers and their redistributive impact across a number of countries at different points in time we focus on four countries with contrasting welfare systems. This allows us to provide an in-depth analysis of the evolution of welfare systems in these countries using a long time series (spanning four decades) to examine trends within countries over time and between countries at different points in time.

2. Motivation and existing evidence

Cash transfers are made for a number of reasons. As Hills (2014) outlines it is not simply that welfare states redistribute income from those who are well-off to those who are disadvantaged (labelled the "Robin Hood" objective by Barr (2001)) but to a large extent to assist individuals and families in smoothing income between periods of their lives when income is relatively high to periods when it is lower (through unemployment or retirement, for example) or when needs are greater (raising a young family) (labelled the "Piggy Bank" objective by Barr (2001)). The balance between these two objectives does vary between countries and there is some evidence that countries with greater targeting do less in terms of redistribution across the lifecycle and conversely countries with a higher degree of targeting cash transfers to low-income households are more redistributive (Ståhlberg, 2007). So at least to some degree an assessment of the effectiveness of the net cash transfer system not only tells us the extent to which the welfare state reduces inequality and the incidence of poverty between individuals and their families at a point in time but it also tells us about the effectiveness of the system in terms of smoothing our own income over the lifecycle between times of relative need and relative plenty.

The rise in income inequality within many rich countries over the past four decades has increasingly attracted attention and raised concerns (Salverda et al., 2014; OECD, 2008; OECD, 2011; Brandolini and Smeeding, 2009; Stiglitz, 2012). Not only does rising income inequality portray an increase in the dispersion of economic and monetary resources but evidence suggests that higher income inequality is associated with greater inequalities in other domains (Salverda et al., 2014; Hills et al., 2010). This is hardly surprising given that money is used by individuals and families to secure better outcomes. The effectiveness of welfare states in terms of reducing inequality and the incidence of poverty is not simply of academic interest as understanding differences can help to improve the functioning of welfare states. Whiteford (2008) outlines how understanding the redistributive effectiveness of different systems can help the design of policies and their mix, particularly where governments are seeking to reform welfare systems.

The debate between those who argue for more or less targeting of cash transfers has a long history and is ongoing. Although this controversy did not start with Korpi and Palme's 1998 work it can certainly be regarded as a seminal contribution. They conclude their cross-country analysis by outlining what they note can appear to be counterintuitive to some:— "*The paradox of redistribution: The more we target benefits at the poor only and the more concerned we are with creating equality via equal public transfers to all, the less likely we are to reduce poverty and inequality"* (Korpi and Palme, 1998). Of course this was not the end of the debate but it was largely left unchallenged, at least empirically, until very recently. In 2011 Kenworthy updated Korpi and Palme's analysis using observations for the 1990s and 2000s and he concludes that the negative relationship between targeting and redistribution was less clear by 1995 and no longer evident by 2000/2005 (Kenworthy, 2011).

Marx, Salanauskaite and Verbist (2013) conduct an extensive analysis using the same set of countries as that examined by Korpi and Palme and supplementary analysis using a wider set of countries for which more recent data are now available. They conclude that the strong inverse relationship identified by Korpi and Palme no longer holds as a robust empirical generalisation. They suggest that this is to do with the selection of countries, the time period studied and aspects of the empirical specification. All three studies examine the relationship between targeting (concentration) and redistributive impact by comparing this bivariate relationship across countries. They are all in agreement that the generosity of the cash transfer system is a key contributory factor just as Kakwani highlighted before them that not just the degree of tax progressivity but also the average tax rate matters in terms redistribution (Kakwani, 1977). It is noteworthy that the extensive new analysis in Kenworthy (2011) and Marx, Salanauskaite and Verbist (2013) does not show the positive relationship between targeting and poverty or inequality reduction that might be naively expected.

The existing research has focused on comparing a set of countries at a point in time or at two or three points in time even though the debate on means-testing and progressive taxation is generally concerned with over time hypotheses. As Glennerster (2014) points out, Titmuss argued the case that "separate discriminatory services for poor people have always tended to be poor services" (or low benefit ones). Over time, he claims, it becomes easier to cut services and cash transfers for disadvantaged people, as the 'blame' for their predicament can be levelled at their inaction, when the majority of the electorate don't directly benefit. However, there is an alternative view suggesting that a targeted cash transfer system is more likely to be supported by the electorate based on the notion that money is 'wasted' on non-poor people in a universal system and therefore will receive less electoral support. The social legitimacy of differently targeted benefits is reviewed by van Oorschot and Roosma (2015) who highlight the vulnerability of narrowly targeted benefits overall and particularly during periods of austerity. Another way in which the concentration of cash transfers can affect re-distributive effectiveness is through reduced take-up resulting from the stigma felt by those who are entitled to receive such transfers. Such arguments were put forward by Beveridge and Townsend and this may have changed over time but static analysis is unable to pick up any differences.

Welfare state provision not only affects post transfer behaviour and income but the existence and design of cash transfers can directly alter people's behaviour. Behavioural changes can affect the distribution of market income (pre-tax and transfer income) by either creating a disincentive for individuals to make alternative provisions for periods of loss of income (such as unemployment insurance or private pension provision) or simply deterring personal savings (especially where savings are included in a means-test). Also a cash transfer system that supplements low wages (such as housing subsidies and tax-credits paid to those in work) can distort the market by making it financially viable for workers to accept low paid jobs and incentivises employers to create jobs which are effectively subsidised by the welfare state.

All of these debates consider how welfare state regimes and the redistributive effectiveness of net cash transfer systems evolve over time. A static analysis would have to assume that a point in time represents a long-run equilibrium or steady-state but this is unlikely to be the case as cash transfers and taxation policy evolves under different governments and in response to the economic cycle. For example, unemployment reduces the market income of some individuals and the payment of unemployment benefit increases measures of redistributive effectiveness so comparing a set of countries at a point in time will be affected by the extent to which unemployment varies between countries as well as the redistributive effectiveness of unemployment benefit. It therefore makes much more sense to approach the topic by comparing the evolution of these trends and the relationships between them within and then between countries.

A recent review of the international evidence concludes that despite a considerable volume of research the universal versus means-tested debate is far from resolved (Gugushvili and Hirsch, 2014). In this paper we take a new approach which provides additional insight into the apparent changing relationship between the concentration of cash transfers and their redistributive effectiveness.

3. Approach and methodology

We largely follow the methodology previously adopted in the literature. This involves estimating the concentration of cash transfers and relating these figures to estimates of poverty and inequality reduction. Although Korpi and Palme motivate their analysis in terms of comparing countries classified according to different welfare regime types, based on entitlement to different benefits, in practice the empirical component of their paper simply compares countries based on the empirical estimates of cash transfer concentration. Marx et al.(2013) and Kenworthy (2011) also adopt this empirical approach. While simple, there are a number of important underlying assumptions regarding the counterfactual distributions of household income and counterfactual poverty rates which we discuss below.

Our measure of 'targeting' is the concentration coefficient, which in construction is closely related to the Gini coefficient, the difference being that the measure of income used to rank income units is different from that used to assess the distribution of income across ranked households/individuals. For the Gini coefficient the same measure of income is used to both rank individuals and to compute the share of income going to ranked positions. We rank individuals according to their household equivalised market income (income from

employment, capital (including voluntary individual pensions) and private transfers), and estimate the share of net cash transfers received within ranked positions.

As outlined in Van Kerm (2010) the Gini and concentration coefficient can be formulated in terms of covariance expressions:

$$\operatorname{GINI}(\mathsf{X}) = -2 \operatorname{Cov}\left(\frac{\mathsf{X}}{\mu(\mathsf{X})}, \ (1 - \mathsf{F}(\mathsf{X}))\right)$$

where X is a random variable of interest with mean $\mu(X)$, and F(X) is its cumulative distribution function. The Concentration coefficient measures the association between two random variables and can be expressed as:

$$\operatorname{CONC}(X, Y) = -2 \operatorname{Cov}\left(\frac{X}{\mu(X)}, (1 - G(Y))\right)$$

where G(Y) is the cumulative distribution function of Y. CONC(X, Y) reflects how much X is concentrated on observations with high ranks in Y. Smaller (more negative) values are related to higher degrees of concentration or 'targeting'.

The choice of the counterfactual distribution (Y) is important as it represents income and its distribution that is assumed to prevail in the absence of a welfare state (pre cash transfers, social contributions and income taxes).

We use two outcome measures to assess effectiveness. (1) An estimate of inequality reduction arising from the net cash transfer system which is measured as the difference in the Gini coefficient before and after net cash transfers. (2) An estimate of poverty reduction measured by the difference in poverty rates before and after net cash transfers.

We use the 'at risk of' income poverty rate measured by the proportion of individuals with income below 60% of median income. Household income is equivalised using the square root of household size (including children) and the unit of analysis is the individual.

Throughout we use market income and its distribution as the counterfactual. The assumption here is that market income is a reliable measure of what household income would be in the absence of direct taxes and gross cash transfers. This, of course, is unlikely to hold in practice as in the absence of a welfare state individuals and families would make alternative decisions/provision; unemployment insurance, pension provision and labour supply behaviour are likely to be affected. The underlying assumptions that there is no behavioural change related to the presence of targeted cash transfers or tax is unrealistic but it is not clear whether market income would be more or less equally distributed in their absence. Alternative counterfactual income measures such as gross income (market income plus gross cash transfers) and disposable income have also been used in the literature and evidence does show that the ranking of income units is affected by the choice of income measure but each measure has its advantages and disadvantages. As we are more interested in looking at changes overtime rather than the precise level this is less of an issue.

We present results for the all age population and the working age population (16-64 years) separately to exclude the age group for whom market income is least likely to provide a true counterfactual due to the dominant role of pensions.

Four countries have been selected for this study spanning a number of different welfare state types. Italy, a Southern European country which still relies on a family-based welfare system, has an ageing population reliant on increasingly burdensome public pensions and an

underdeveloped social assistance system. Out of the selection of countries Italy has the lowest rates of employment and the widest gender gap in employment. Expenditure on family and unemployment related cash transfers is relatively low in Italy. France is a member of the 'corporatist-statist' welfare regimes according to Esping-Andersen's typology (Esping-Andersen, 1990). France has the highest share of tax revenue collected through social security contributions, not just out of the selected countries but across the OECD. The reliance on social security contributions results in a tax system which is considerably less progressive than other systems where income tax plays a larger role. The French welfare state offers a minimum income, a fairly generous system of family benefits (cash transfers and tax deductions) and an earnings related unemployment benefit. Similar to Italy, social expenditure on old age pensions dominates and has increased dramatically in recent years. Sweden is by far the smallest country of the four with a population of around 10 million compared to about 60 million in the other three. Sweden has traditionally been characterised as belonging to the 'Social Democratic' or 'Nordic' model of welfare with a large public sector and a large and active welfare state. However, since the early 1990s financial crisis Sweden has undertaken a series of reforms seeking to reduce the size of the welfare state. Changes in the tax system have made it less progressive and the generosity of unemployment insurance has been reduced. The United Kingdom is said to belong to a 'liberal' model of welfare regime types, characterised by a low tax and less generous welfare state. The UK has the second highest employment rates (behind Sweden) both overall and for women but by far the highest rate of women working part-time and the highest incidence of low-wage employment. The UK has an established system of in-work benefits, made more generous with the introduction of tax credits in 1999 and through cash transfers to assist with housing costs.

4. Data

The data used in this research are drawn from the Luxembourg Income Study (LIS) micro datasets. LIS is a database of national data sources including household surveys and extracts from administrative systems (register data). To assist cross country analysis, LIS have harmonised key variables although, inevitably, differences remain both between countries and within countries over time. Here we provide some information on the national data sources used and highlight factors that could affect our analysis.

UK data are from the Family Expenditure Survey until 1994 and from 1995 onwards from the Family Resources Survey, both are annual household surveys. For France information is drawn from the Household Budget Survey (BdF). This survey collects information on net income but because income tax in France is not withheld at source but paid by annual tax return, all the amounts reported in the survey are net of mandatory contributions but gross of income tax. LIS uses an estimate of income tax based on income tax paid in the previous fiscal year to compute net household income.

Italian data are drawn from the Survey of Household Income and Wealth (SHIW). Incomes are reported net of taxes and social contributions. Data on net personal income taxes and social security contributions have been imputed by the Bank of Italy (the data providers). This has implications for some of the analysis reported in this paper and is highlighted where relevant.

Sweden is the only country in our sample for which income data is drawn from administrative data sources. Households in the Swedish dataset (HINK) were defined in terms of fiscal units up to 2000. The result is that children over the age of 16 still living with their parents were not included as household members but could appear in the survey as a separate household unit. In addition, non-married couples who don't have children in common are counted as separate household units. The result is a larger number of households classified as single household

units. This potentially has an impact on poverty and inequality measures as for some pooling of household resources and needs are not accounted for and children (16 years and older) who are still living with their parents are likely to appear to live in households with very little, if any, income. However, Fritzell et al. (2014) show that inequality measures using the old and new definitions are very similar and therefore this is unlikely to lead to any great discontinuity.

	1970s	1980s	1990s	2000s
υк	1974, 1979	1986	1991, 1994, 1995, 1999	2004, 2007, 2010
Italy		1986, 1987, 1989	1991, 1993, 1995, 1998	2000, 2004, 2008, 2010
France		1984, 1989	1994	2000, 2005, 2010
Sweden	1975	1981, 1987	1992, 1995	2000, 2005

Table 1: Survey years available from the LIS database used in the analysis

5. Trends in income poverty, inequality and the concentration of cash transfers

We begin by examining within country trends in poverty rates (measured before and after net cash transfers) and the concentration of gross and net cash transfers. The examination of gross and net cash transfers allows us to assess changes in the progressivity of cash transfers and direct taxes¹ separately as here we define household net cash transfers as gross cash transfers net of all direct taxes. Ultimately it is the combined effect of cash transfers and direct taxes that determine the redistributive effectiveness of the system.

In the UK we observe a reduction in the concentration of *net* cash transfers which has been driven by a reduction in tax progressivity (Figure 1). Gross cash transfers became less concentrated between 1974 and 1979 but then increased in concentration between 1986 and 1991 and between 1995 and 2010, reflecting an increasing policy emphasis on focusing resources on those most in need and latterly with efforts to reduce the incidence of child poverty. The gap between the concentration of gross and net cash transfers widened between 1974 and 1979 and then narrowed reflecting a fall in the progressive incidence of direct taxes. Poverty rates increased in the UK with much greater increases for market income than for disposable income measures demonstrating the effectiveness of net cash transfers in keeping poverty rates down. The fact that disposable income poverty rates did increase, particularly over the period 1974-1991, shows that net cash transfers were not enough to fully offset the increase in the incidence of market income poverty.

¹ Ideally measures of indirect taxes would also be included but this information is not available in the data source.

In France a shorter time series is available (1984-2010). In the computation of the concentration coefficients household income is ranked on the basis of gross market income *net* of mandatory social contributions. To the extent that these are progressive, concentration coefficients will be lower than if household income was ranked on the basis of gross market income. The concentration of cash transfers follows no distinct trend over this period and there is very little difference between the concentration of gross and net cash transfers. This is because income in the French survey is reported gross of taxes but net of social contributions and the fact that France has the highest share of tax revenue collected through social security contributions across the OECD (40%) (OECDstat). This finding is also consistent with recent evidence which concludes that the French tax system is not progressive (Frémeaux and Piketty, 2014). Market income (net of compulsory social contributions) poverty rates increased marginally (there was also little change in UK rates over this time period) but disposable income poverty rates fell (particularly over the period 1989-1994) demonstrating an increase in the effectiveness of the French net cash transfer system (effectively gross cash transfers) in terms of reducing the incidence of poverty.

In Sweden the concentration of net cash transfers increased between 1975 and 1981 but the concentration of gross cash transfers changed very little indicating an increase in the progressivity of income tax (Figure 1). Subsequently, the concentration of net cash transfers fell quite dramatically between 1981 and 1995; in particular between 1981 and 1987 and again steeply between 1992 and 1995 (over the Swedish financial crisis in the early 1990s) with little change in the concentration of gross cash transfers over this period. This implies that income tax became less progressive and this is consistent with the reforms made over this period (Fritzell et al., 2014). Between 2000 and 2005 the concentration of net cash transfers increased once again. Market income poverty rates increased fairly dramatically in Sweden between 1975 and 1995 but disposable income poverty rates actually declined slightly as a result of net cash transfers more than offsetting the increase in market income poverty rates increased and this narrowing between the two rates indicates that the net cash transfer system became less effective at combating poverty; no change in the concentration of gross or net cash transfers over this period points to a less generous system.

As income for Italy in the LIS database is reported net of taxes and social contributions, individual household income is ranked according to net rather than gross market income for the computation of concentration coefficients. Because income tax is progressive this means that cash transfers will be less concentrated in net market income terms than for gross market income. In Italy the concentration of gross cash transfers decreased between 1989 and 1995 followed by an increase between 1998 and 2004; the concentration of gross cash transfers in 2004 was very similar to 1989. Information on imputed taxes and social contributions is only made available through LIS from 2004 in the Italian data series and therefore it is not possible to analyse differences in the trends between gross and net. In Italy as income is reported net of taxes and social contributions, net market income is shown in Figure 1 and therefore the difference between net market income and disposable income is accounted for by the impact of cash transfers only. Market income and disposable income poverty rates increased between 1989 and 1993. Over the whole period for which data is available for Italy (1987-2010) there is an increase in the gap between (net) market income and disposable income poverty rates indicating that cash transfers became more effective at reducing the incidence of income poverty.

Comparing the four countries we find that from around 1990 all countries have very similar market income poverty rates at around 40%, although lower in Sweden from around 2000 at

about 34% (Figure 1). The gap between market income poverty rates and disposable income poverty rates is highest in France (although note that market income is reported net of mandatory social contributions) where net cash transfers reduced poverty rates by around 30 percentage points in 2005. The concentration of net cash transfers decreased in the UK and Sweden, although the concentration increased in Sweden in the most recent years 2000-2005.



Figure 1: Trends in poverty rates (vertical axis – positive scale) and concentration of cash transfers (vertical axis – negative scale) (all age)

▲ Market income ● Disposable income ● gross cash transfers ■ net cash transfers Notes: (1) For Italy, market income is reported net of taxes and social contributions. This means that the difference between market and disposable income represents the effect of cash transfers only. From 2004 imputed income tax and social security contributions are reported allowing for an estimate of net and gross cash transfers to be included. For the computation of concentration coefficients, income is ranked on the basis of net rather than gross market income. (2) For France, the measure for market income is net of compulsory mandatory social contributions. Income tax for the previous fiscal year is used to estimate disposable income.

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

The series in Figure 2 are restricted to the working age population (16-64 years) and therefore largely exclude the effects of cash transfers in the form of pensions. Using market income as counterfactual income is arguably the least realistic for those reliant on pensions. The concentration of gross cash transfers is similar to that shown for the all age population but

higher for net cash transfers among the working age population. This is because income tax among the working age population is more progressive, reflecting the higher tax liabilities of the working age population, demonstrated by the larger gap between the concentration of gross and net cash transfers in the working age population than in the all age population. Market income poverty rates are lower among the working age population highlighting the point made about the importance of pensions in the population over working age. The gaps between market income poverty rates and disposable income poverty rates are much smaller in the working age population as net cash transfers play a smaller role in poverty reduction in the working age population (again reflecting the importance of pensions). It is notable that the gap between market income and disposable income poverty rates is particularly small in Italy; no doubt a result of the fact that the Italian welfare state has much more limited provision of cash transfers for the working age population and the domination of pensions for those over working age. The overall pattern of trends in concentration and poverty rates between the all age and the working age populations is very similar across these four countries.

It is well-documented that income inequality in the UK increased over the 40 years since 1970, with much of the increase occurring over the 1980s (McKnight and Tsang, 2014). While inequality increased in market income and disposable income, the increase was greater for market income (48% versus 33% increase; 18 Gini points versus 9 Gini points) (Figure 3). This suggests that the net cash transfer system became more effective in terms of reducing income inequality. This could be due to changes in factors affecting market income inequality such as unemployment and earnings inequality as well as increases in disability and the growth in disability-related benefits and housing benefits. In Sweden inequality of market income increased in the first half of the 1990s; a period over which the concentration of net cash transfers fell². However inequality in disposable income didn't increase until the second half of the 1990s when inequality in market income actually fell.

In France the inequality of disposable income and market income fell between 1984 and 1989 but thereafter remained fairly stable through to 2010. Inequality in market and disposable income dipped temporarily in Italy between 1986 and 1991 and inequality in market income continued to increase gradually through to 2004, although inequality in disposable income remained fairly flat.

 $^{^{2}}$ These inequality rates are lower than those reported in some other studies but the trends are the same (Fritzell et al., 2014).



Figure 2: Trends in poverty rates (vertical axis – positive scale) and concentration of cash transfers (vertical axis – negative scale) (working age)

▲ Market income ● Disposable income ◆ gross cash transfers ■ net cash transfers Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study Notes (see Figure 1 notes)



Figure 3: Trends in inequality in market and disposable income (Gini coefficients) (vertical axis – positive scale) and concentration of gross and net cash transfers (vertical axis – negative scale) (all age population)

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

Notes (see Figure 1 notes)

Inequality in market income is lower in the working age population than the all age population and the difference between market income inequality and inequality in disposable incomes is much reduced as net cash transfers play a smaller redistributive role in the working age population (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Trends in inequality in market and disposable income (Gini coefficients) (vertical axis – positive scale)and concentration of gross and net cash transfers (vertical axis – negative scale) (working age)

▲ Market income ● Disposable income ◆ gross cash transfers ■ net cash transfers

Notes (see Figure 1 notes)

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

6. Concentration of gross universal transfers and gross social assistance

For the main analysis we examine the concentration of *total* gross or net cash transfers as it is the combination of universal and social assistance that has the overall redistributive effect that we are interested in measuring. However, it is interesting to examine how the concentration of the different types of cash transfers has evolved within countries. Cash transfers are commonly categorised into universal benefits and social assistance. Social assistance is generally meanstested and therefore targeted at low income families. However, targeting of universal benefits to certain groups which tend to have the lowest incomes (pensioners, families with young children, etc) can create an indirect or secondary form of income targeting at least in terms of the average for the group (some refer to this as 'targeting within universalism' or 'categorical selectivity'). In this section we examine how the targeting of gross cash transfers classified according to whether they are universal benefits or social assistance has changed over time within the four countries measured by concentration coefficients (Table 2). Social assistance is more concentrated although there are some exceptions where 'universal' transfers are more concentrated than social assistance (eg France 1984 and 1989) but it is likely to have arisen as a result of deficiencies in the data with information not always available for sub-components³ within transfer types. Changes in eligibility, the introduction of new cash transfers, welfare benefit reforms and changes in need (eg unemployment) are all likely to affect trends in the differences between the two types of cash transfer. For example the introduction of tax credits for low income working households in the UK resulted in cash transfers having greater reach up the income distribution than previous in-work benefits. This has had the effect of decreasing the concentration of social assistance.

Among the all age population we observe fluctuations in the concentration of universal cash transfers over time. For the complete periods for which information is available we observe an increase in concentration in the UK but falls in France, Italy and Sweden. The concentration of universal cash transfers also fell among the working age population in France and Italy but increased in the UK and Sweden.

A more mixed picture emerges with regards to changes in the concentration of social assistance. For the all age population concentration increased in Sweden, France and initially the UK (falling after the introduction of tax credits in 1999). In Italy the concentration of social assistance fluctuates over time⁴.

This pattern within countries and across time is largely replicated for the working age population with a few exceptions. In Italy the concentration of social assistance fell overall in the working age population but large fluctuations over time suggests that there are some data quality issues.

In the UK, France and Sweden the concentration of universal benefits is greater among the all age population than the working age population while the reverse is true for social assistance. In Italy there is a more mixed picture which changes over time.

³ This is not a problem for the total values used in the main analysis.

⁴ It is not clear if this is due to data coverage or policy. Italy lacks a national level social assistance programme and provision varies across regions.

	All ages		Working age	
	Gross	Gross social	Gross	Gross social
	universal	assistance	universal	assistance
UK				
1979	-0.325	-0.454	-0.236	-0.513
1986	-0.283	-0.561	-0.231	-0.621
1991	-0.316	-0.696	-0.272	-0.762
1994	-0.317	-0.647	-0.291	-0.715
1995	-0.270	-0.664	-0.236	-0.714
1999	-0.327	-0.656	-0.281	-0.722
2004	-0.370	-0.573	-0.300	-0.656
2007	-0.414	-0.478	-0.312	-0.597
2010	-0.414	-0.438	-0.309	-0.560
France				
1984	-0.429	-0.209	-0.432	-0.306
1989	-0.437	-0.300	-0.402	-0.431
1994	-0.408	-0.417	-0.366	-0.564
2000	-0.426	-0.446	-0.366	-0.580
2005	-0.407	-0.478	-0.374	-0.606
2010	-0.401	-0.485	-0.342	-0.623
Italy				
1987	-0.424	-0.466	-0.490	-0.585
1989	-0.432	-0.472	-0.489	-0.537
1991	-0.405	-0.462	-0.427	-0.532
1993	-0.344	-0.454	-0.346	-0.485
1995	-0.301	-0.330	-0.306	-0.121
1998	-0.309	-0.349	-0.301	-0.117
2000	-0.342	-0.496	-0.352	-0.227
2004	-0.399	-0.530	-0.436	-0.575
2008	-0.363	-0.529	-0.366	-0.363
2010	-0.383	-0.488	-0.363	-0.358
Sweden				
1975	-0.371	-0.353	-0.265	-0.459
1981	-0.381	-0.390	-0.284	-0.525
1987	-0.374	-0.390	-0.296	-0.542
1992	-0.353	-0.505	-0.319	-0.619
1995	-0.343	-0.539	-0.322	-0.631
2000	-0.342	-0.666	-0.306	-0.764
2005	-0.339	-0.706	-0.307	-0.805

Table 2: Concentration coefficients by type of cash transfer

Notes (see Figure 1 notes). 1974 for the UK is not included due to missing components.

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

7. Assessing the effectiveness of cash transfers on poverty and inequality reduction

In assessing the relationship between the concentration of net cash transfers and poverty rate reduction we could either examine the relationship between concentration and the percentage point change in poverty rates or the percentage change in poverty rates between market income and disposable income. Both of these measures are positively correlated with the initial at risk of poverty rate as there is greater scope for a reduction in poverty when rates are higher. The percentage reduction in poverty rates has the unattractive feature of giving equal weight to, for example, a halving of poverty rates from 10% to 5% or from 50% to 25% while the percentage point reduction would give much greater weight to the 25 percentage point reduction from 50% to 25% than the 5 percentage point reduction from 10% to 5%. Figure 5 shows how the percentage point reduction and the percentage reduction are correlated with the initial at risk of poverty rates using all of the observations we have across all four countries.



Figure 5: Higher rates of poverty are associated with greater reductions in poverty

Notes (see Figure 1 notes).

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

For inequality we can use either the point reduction or the percentage reduction in the Gini coefficient between market income and disposable income. Figure 6(a) shows that a positive correlation exists between the initial level of inequality and the observed point reduction in the Gini coefficient. However, Figure 6(b) shows the opposite relationship between the initial, or counterfactual, level of inequality (in market income) and the percent reduction associated with net cash transfers.

Figure 6: Higher rates of inequality are related to greater point reductions in inequality but relationship doesn't hold for percent reduction in inequality



Notes (see Figure 1 notes).

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

In the analysis we choose to focus on the percentage point reduction in the poverty rate and the point reduction in the Gini coefficient as we prefer the measure that gives greater weight to a reduction 50% to 25% than 10% to 5%.

7.1 Poverty reduction

If we treat each of our data points across the four countries as independent observations and plot the bivariate relationship between concentration and poverty reduction we obtain our first estimate of the relationship between the degree of concentration of net cash transfers and their effectiveness. In the all age population (Figure 7(a)) we find a negative relationship. This supports Korpi and Palme's finding that greater concentration of net cash transfers is less effective at reducing poverty. However, although some of the data points fit closely to the best-fit line there is also considerable variation so that, for example a 20 percentage point reduction in poverty rates can be achieved where the concentration coefficient ranges from -0.7 to -0.3. Similarly restricting the analysis to the working age population (Figure 7(b)) also reveals a negative relationship between concentration and poverty reduction but there is considerable variation around the best-fit line.

Figure 7: Relationship between concentration of net cash transfers and reduction in at risk of poverty rates (percentage point reduction)



Notes (see Figure 1 notes).

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study

If we take a different approach and examine the series within each country a dramatically clearer picture emerges (Figure 8). The within country analysis reveals a negative relationship between concentration and poverty reduction and although the size of the elasticities varies between the countries, it is much more convincing evidence. All of the coefficient estimates are positive in simple regressions. The relationship is highest in France (coefficient estimate) and weakest in Italy (both in terms of coefficient estimate and R^2). Although in France there is very little variation in the concentration of cash transfers which, as noted earlier, are net of mandatory social contributions but not of income taxes. The points sit closest to the best fit line in the UK ($R^2 = 0.81$).

The arrows joining the data points point in the direction of time. Movement up and down the best fit line rather than simply moving in a single direction along a line provides more convincing evidence of a relationship between these two variables.

The analysis for the working age population also shows a negative relationship within countries between the concentration of net cash transfers and poverty reduction – greater concentration is associated with lower poverty reduction (Figure 9). Compared to the all age population this relationship is weaker in the UK but the points sit closer to the best fit line in Italy and Sweden than for the all age population.



Figure 8: Relationship between concentration of net cash transfers and poverty reduction within countries (all age population)

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study Notes (see Figure 1 notes)



Figure 9: Relationship between concentration of net cash transfers and poverty reduction within countries (working age)

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study Notes (see Figure 1 notes)

7.2. Inequality reduction

In this section we turn our attention to assessing the relationship between the concentration of net cash transfers and the reduction in income inequality measured by the difference (reduction) in Gini coefficients between market income and disposable income.

Looking within countries we find a negative relationship between the degree of concentration of net cash transfers and the reduction in inequality in the all age population (Figure 10). The relationship is strongest and most clearly defined for the UK, followed by Sweden. Again the arrows, which point in the direction of time, show that observations move up and down the line and not simply in one direction.

Note that for Italy the reduction in the Gini coefficient is the difference between inequality of net market income and disposable income and therefore shows the effect of gross cash transfers and misses the progressive effects of income tax and social contributions.

In the working age population we also find a negative relationship between the concentration of net cash transfers and the point reduction in the Gini coefficient in UK, Sweden and France (Figure 11). In these countries during times when net cash transfers have been more concentrated on low income households a lower reduction in income inequality has been achieved. This finding does not hold for Italy; most likely because progressive taxation is not taken into account due to lack of data.



Figure 10: Relationship between concentration of net cash transfers and point reduction in Gini coefficient within countries (all age population)

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study Notes (see Figure 1 notes)





Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Luxembourg Income Study Notes (see Figure 1 notes)

8. Summary

A number of recent studies have provided evidence which suggests that a net cash transfer system which targets cash transfers on low income households can be a more effective way to reduce inequality and income poverty than a system regarded as 'universal' in the sense that net cash transfers are more evenly received across the income distribution. This led to suggestions for a revision to the 'Paradox of Redistribution'; Korpi and Palme's 1998 finding that greater targeting of net cash transfers, measured in terms of concentration, is less effective at reducing poverty and inequality than 'universal' systems where cash transfers are received more evenly across the income distribution. Such a relationship provides an indication of how effective the welfare state is in assisting us at smoothing our own income over the lifecycle as much as redistribution between the wealthy and the disadvantaged at a point in time. Further research is required to assess how lifetime income inequality and income poverty reduction is associated with the concentration of cash transfers but this requires rich longitudinal data.

Previous studies have relied on estimating the bivariate relationship between concentration of cash transfers and poverty or inequality reduction at the country-level. Conclusions have been drawn on the basis of comparisons made between countries at a point in time, or at different points in time.

The research reported in this paper contributes further evidence to this debate by looking at the relationship between poverty and inequality reduction and the concentration of net cash transfers, within four countries (UK, Sweden, France and Italy) over a period of time that spans four decades.

The within country across time evidence presented does not support the case that greater targeting is more effective at reducing poverty or inequality. We offer a word of caution on the use of cross-country bivariate relationships to draw policy conclusions. Where data are available this type of analysis should at least be supplemented with analysis that looks within countries over time as a robustness check.

We find that within countries during periods when net cash transfers have been more closely targeted (concentrated) on lower income households the reduction of income inequality and the incidence of poverty is generally lower. A key to understanding this relationship is the progressivity of direct taxation and in the cases where we find weak(er) evidence it is often associated with incomplete information on income taxes and social contributions.

References

- Barr, N. (2001) The Welfare State as Piggy Bank: Information, Risk, Uncertainty, and the Role of the State, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Brandolini, A., and T. Smeeding (2009) 'Income inequality in richer and OECD countries', in Salverda, W., Nolan, B., and T. Smeeding (eds) The Oxford Handbook of Economic Inequality, Oxford University Press.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). The three worlds of welfare capitalism. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Frémeaux, N., and T. Piketty (2014) 'France: how taxation can increase inequality' in Nolan, Salverda, Checchi, Marx, McKnight, Tóth, van de Werfhorst (eds) (2014) Changing Inequalities and Societal Impacts in Rich Countries: Thirty Countries' Experiences, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fritzell, J., Bacchus Hertzman, J., Backman, O., Borg, I., Ferrarini, T., and K. Nelson (2014) 'Sweden: increasing inequalities and changing social relations' in Nolan, Salverda, Checchi, Marx, McKnight, Tóth, van de Werfhorst (eds) (2014) Changing Inequalities and Societal Impacts in Rich Countries: Thirty Countries' Experiences, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Glennerster, H. (2014) 'Richard Titmuss: forty years on', CASEpaper 180. London: Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.
- Gugushvili, D., and D. Hirsch (2014) 'Means-tested and universal approaches to poverty: international evidence and how the UK compares', CRSP Working paper 640. Loughborough: Centre for Research in Social Policy.
- Hills, J. (2014) Good times, bad times: The welfare myth of them and us, Bristol: Policy Press.
- Hills, J., Brewer, M., Jenkins, S., Lister, R., Lupton, R., Machin, S., Mills, C., Modood, T., Rees, T. and Riddell, S. (2010), An Anatomy of Economic Inequality, Report of the National Equality Panel, CASE report 60, London: London School of Economics and Government Equalities Office.
- Kakwani, N. C. (1977) 'Measurement of tax progressivity: an international comparison', Economic Journal, Vol. 87, 345, pp. 71-80.
- Kenworthy, L. (2011) Progress for the Poor. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Korpi, W. and Palme, J. (1998) 'The Paradox of Redistribution and Strategies of Equality: Welfare State Institutions, Inequality, and Poverty in the Western Countries', American Sociological Review, Vol. 63, No. 5, p. 661-687.
- Luxembourg Income Study (LIS) Database, http://www.lisdatacenter.org (United Kingdom, Sweden, France and Italy; 1974-2010). Luxembourg: LIS.
- Marx, I., Salanauskaite, L., and G. Verbist (2013) 'The paradox of redistribution revisited: and that it may rest in peace?. GINI Working Paper No. 82 http://giniresearch.org/system/uploads/583/original/82.pdf?1385131289
- McKnight, A. and T. Tsang (2014) 'Divided we fall? The wider consequences of high and unrelenting inequality in the UK' in Nolan, Salverda, Checchi, Marx, McKnight, Tóth,

van de Werfhorst (eds) Changing Inequalities and Societal Impacts in Rich Countries: Thirty Countries' Experiences, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- OECD (2011) Divided we stand: why inequality keeps rising, Paris: OECD.
- OECD (2008) Growing Unequal? Income distribution and poverty in OECD countries, Paris: OECD.
- Salverda, W., Nolan, B., Checchi, D., Marx, I., McKnight, A., Tóth, I. G., and H. G. van de Werfhorst (eds) (2014) Changing Inequalities and Societal Impacts in Rich Countries: Analytical and Comparative Perspectives, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ståhlberg, A.-C. (2007), 'Redistribution across the Life Course in Social Protection Systems', Modernising Social Policy for the New Life Course, Paris: OECD.
- Stiglitz, J. (2012) The Price of Inequality, Norton.
- Van Kerm, P. 'sgini Generalized Gini and Concentration coefficients (with factor decomposition) in Stata', CEPS/INSTEAD, Luxembourg.
- Van Oorschot W. and F. Roosma (2015), The social legitimacy of differently targeted benefits, ImPRovE Working Paper No. 15/11. Antwerp: Herman Deleeck Centre for Social Policy – University of Antwerp
- Whiteford, P. (2008) "How Much Redistribution Do Governments Achieve? The Role of Cash Transfers and Household Taxes." Chapter 4 in Growing Unequal? Paris: OECD.

ImPRovE: Poverty Reduction in Europe. Social Policy and Innovation

Poverty Reduction in Europe: Social Policy and Innovation (ImPRovE) is an international research project that brings together ten outstanding research institutes and a broad network of researchers in a concerted effort to study poverty, social policy and social innovation in Europe. The ImPRovE project aims to improve the basis for evidence-based policy making in Europe, both in the short and in the long term. In the short term, this is done by carrying out research that is directly relevant for policymakers. At the same time however, ImPRovE invests in improving the long-term capacity for evidence-based policy making by upgrading the available research infrastructure, by combining both applied and fundamental research, and by optimising the information flow of research results to relevant policy makers and the civil society at large.

The two central questions driving the ImPRovE project are:

How can social cohesion be achieved in Europe?

How can social innovation complement, reinforce and modify macro-level policies and vice versa?

The project runs from March 2012 till February 2016 and receives EU research support to the amount of Euro 2.7 million under the 7th Framework Programme. The output of ImPRovE will include over 55 research papers, about 16 policy briefs and at least 3 scientific books. The ImPRovE Consortium will organise two international conferences (Spring 2014 and Winter 2015). In addition, ImPRovE will develop a new database of local projects of social innovation in Europe, cross-national comparable reference budgets for 6 countries (Belgium, Finland, Greece, Hungary, Italy and Spain) and will strongly expand the available policy scenarios in the European microsimulation model EUROMOD.

More detailed information is available on the website <u>http://improve-research.eu</u>.

Bea Cantillon (Coordinator) E-mail: bea.cantillon@uantwerpen.be Phone: +32 3 265 53 98 Address: University of Antwerp – Sint-Jacobstraat 2 (M.177) – 2000 Antwerp - Belgium Tim Goedemé (Manager) E-mail: tim.goedeme@uantwerpen.be

Phone: +32 3 265 55 55

Mobile: +32 494 82 36 27

Address: University of Antwerp - Sint-Jacobstraat 2 (M. 185) - 2000 Antwerp - Belgium